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THE MARSHLANDS OF FRESHWATER , A CASE STUDY 
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Introduction  

The pursuit of natural history was a popular pastime amongst the leisured classes in Victorian and Edwardian England 

and, to assist interested persons, local guide books would regularly include a chapter on natural history with an itinerary 

of places to visit where the hobbyist might collect a variety of interesting specimens to bring home to study, preserve and 

cherish. On the Island, one such place of pilgrimage was Freshwater Marshes. 

 

     In 1900, amongst many publications, Frederick Stratton (1840-1916), a local botanist and Newport solicitor, produced 

for the benefit of visitors a pamphlet entitled óWild Flowers of the Isle of Wightô. In it, he says óFreshwater Gate was one 

of the best botanical localities in the Island, but it has been sadly ruined in this respect by the advance of civilisationô. He 

then goes on to describe a mouth-wateringly rich variety of plants which were still surviving on what he terms óthe moorô 

and on marshland further down the Yar. Indeed, Freshwater Marshes, which we think of today as a tract of reedbeds and 

willow carr, was a remarkably complex river basin with different areas referred to as Easton Marsh, Afton Marsh, 

Freshwater Gate, North Marsh, South Marsh, the moor and the millpond. It has been suggested that Easton Marsh refers 

to the marsh adjoining Easton Lane in the North Marsh but reference to early botanical records indicates that Easton 

Marsh and Afton Marsh were used to refer to similar areas by different recorders.        

     A good indication of the complexity and dynamism of Freshwater Marshes is given in a description by naturalist and 

author Charles John Cornish in The Isle of Wight, published in 1895, just prior to the óadvance of civilisationô referred to 

by Stratton. 

The little river which formed the valley rises within a few yards of the southern sea, at Freshwater Gate, but, 

turning its back on the waters of the channel, flows due north towards the Solent. As its whole course is less 

than four miles, with a very gradual fall, it is open to the tide, and becomes a salt water estuary within half a 

mile of its source. But the slob-lands on either side are rapidly being converted into firm ground. Part is 

covered with rough sedge-grass, which, except at high tides, is never under water. The wetter parts are thick 

beds of reeds, like those seen by the Norfolk Broads, between whose roots the decay of water-plants is 

rapidly forming soil. Beyond this are squashy meadows, and outside these again rich grasslands. Looking up 

the estuary at sunset, the scene across this mixed area of water and land is singularly rich in colour.   

     This was a managed landscape where ósquashy meadowsô were grazed, wet woodland was coppiced, and drainage 

ditches were kept open. Some small meadows are shown on the Mudge map of 1793 and the marshes were known to be 

grazed by cattle until the early twentieth century (as late as 1926 on the privately owned North Marsh). Following the 

cessation of grazing, reeds lining the ditches spread across the site, changing it from wet boggy meadows to reedbed 

(Blair 1950a). A small planted Osier withybed alongside Blackbridge Road was used to provide rods for lobster pots. 

Sadly, the narrow valley was surrounded by land ripe for development and during the twentieth century water abstraction, 

road construction and new building proceeded apace. The wetland which survives today as Afton Marsh Local Nature 

Reserve is much changed in appearance from one hundred years ago and yet it is remarkable how much has survived and, 

even today, this is one of the more interesting botanical localities on the Island.       

Origin s 

The Western Yar appears today to be an absurdly short river with a disproportionately large estuary and a minimum 

catchment area. The occurrence of river gravel terraces, which persist as a capping on the sea cliff near Freshwater, and 

along the river valley slopes, suggest that it was once part of a much more substantial river system. Indeed, the Western 

Yar was a much more substantial river during the Paleocene when sea levels were lower and the land extended much 

further to the south and the Island was joined to the mainland.  Sea-level rise and coastal erosion subsequently removed 

most of the river catchment so that today the Western Yar rises as a spring in a gap in the central downs at Freshwater 

Gate, on the eastern edge of the alluvium at a distance of 200m from the high water mark.  

 

     A Geological Survey Memoir (Bristow, Reid & Strahan 1889) provides an interesting description of the area at that 

time. Referring to the source of the Yar, it stated: 
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Though fresh, it shows the peculiarity of rising and falling with the flow and ebb of the tide. So near is the 

source of this rivulet that, in violent weather, the billows have been known to overpass the slight barrier of 

shingle, and mingle with the fresh waters of the little river head. The alluvium, consisting of peat, silt and 

marsh clay, extends continuously southwards to the foreshore where, however, it is almost covered with sand 

and shingle. In digging a foundation for the seawall, this peaty deposit was excavated to a depth of 10 feet 

without the bottom being reached, and was found to be abundantly charged with fresh water. The ponding 

back of this water by the rising tide is probably the cause of the spring alluded to above. 

The freshwater spring rising so close to the sea and flowing northwards into the Solent is believed to be the origin of the 

name of the settlement Freshwater. 

History of development 

Originally, there had been only two means of access to the land west of the river Yar, sometimes referred to as 

Freshwater Isle. This would have been by ferry boat at Norton across the mouth of the estuary at Yarmouth, and by foot 

across a narrow neck of land called Freshwater Gate which probably consisted of a bank of shingle separating the sea to 

the south from the marshes of the upper reaches of the Yar estuary to the north. Freshwater Isle was almost cut off from 

the 'mainland' of the Island itself. Brannon, writing of Freshwater Gate in the mid-19th century, refers to it: óA low 

narrow bank of shingly pebbles that are thrown up by the furious waves, here interposes between the briny element and 

the spring-head of the river Yar, which is supposed to have given the inappropriate name of "Freshwater" to this part of 

the Island: it rises in a meadow nearly opposite the hotel, and taking a northerly direction, communicates with the Solent 

Channel at Yarmouth: of course, if ever the present shallow barrier of shingles should be removed, this quarter will then 

be completely insulated, as is said to have been the case some centuries backô (Brannon 1826). Freshwater itself was 

predominantly agricultural and sparsely inhabited, comprising a number of scattered small hamlets and settlements.  

 

     By the 17th century, another communication link had been added in the form of a causeway, which extended from 

near the parish church across to Afton. This causeway was probably constructed across the dam wall for a tide mill that 

existed at the east end of the causeway. When exactly the mill was built is uncertain, but certainly it existed by the mid-

14th century. By 1694, this was described as a "water corn mill"(Major 1970). The mill is shown as a ruin on the first 

edition of the six-inch Ordnance Survey map of 1862. The site has now been covered over by the widening of the 

Causeway from Freshwater to Afton, but originally this road must have run across the dam. An engraving of 1835 by 

H.W. Bartlett and T. Barber shows the dam with ruins at its centre point and the mill pond heavily silted up.  

 
Figure 2. An engraving by W.H. Bartlett & T. Barber (c. 1835) showing Freshwater Mill Dam 

allowing the passage of water into the old, silted up millpond, grazed by cattle. 
 

     The Blackbridge Brook crossing at Easton is not shown on the map by Isaac Taylor of 1759 but does appear on John 

Andrewsôs map of 1769.  
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     The western peninsula began to be opened up for tourism following the construction of a bridge at Yarmouth in 1860. 

Roads were little more than single-carriage trackways, whose surface had been strengthened with a coating of compacted 

gravel of variable thickness. Gravel terraces around the parish church and at Easton provided a convenient source of 

gravel. There were also good deposits of plateau gravel on the top of Headon Warren, where numerous depressions and 

overgrown pits testify to mining activity of this resource over the ages. Afton Road, which commences at Freshwater 

Gate and continues north, crossing the Yar via Bow Bridge, was constructed in 1885. It provided a new route between 

Freshwater Green and Freshwater Bay. Once constructed, the infrastructure was in place for the Freshwater terminus of a 

railway link from Newport.  Development around Freshwater Marshes now took off. The Third Edition six-inch OS map 

(1908) shows large houses on the east side of Afton Road south of Newport Road. These are the Edwardian houses, built 

in the black and white óTudorbethanô style, which survive today. 

Development threatens the Marshes 

From the late nineteenth century and throughout the twentieth century, reports by botanists and other naturalists charted 

the encroachment and deterioration of the marsh through development, drainage and inappropriate management. The 

First Edition six-inch OS map (1862) indicates plots of land at the south end of the marsh around Freshwater Gate 

allocated for development.  These had been developed by the time of the Second Edition OS map (1898), severely 

constricting the source of the Yar and undoubtedly destroying in part one of the richest and most specialised wetland 

habitats. 

 

 
Figure 3. An undated photograph from a postcard shows Afton Road, looking north. Edwardian properties 

line the road on the east side (the large gabled property is óBodowenô. The marshes are open; scrub invasion 

is only just starting. This suggests that the photograph was taken in the early twentieth century. 

 

     Nevertheless, grazing and ditch management were still carried out on the marsh. Blair (1950a) says óIt is well-known 

that up to the time of the 1914-1918 War, the state of the marsh was very different from that now existing. Instead of a 

large reed-bed it consisted of open grazing meadows, no doubt with drainage ditches lined with reeds and other water 

plants. With the withdrawal of labour required to keep the waterways open they soon become choked and the reeds ran 

rampant.ô Locals remember that parts of the South Marsh were used by the public between the two Wars with 

suggestions that there was an area reserved for playing tennis, and a permanently submerged area, on the north side of 

Blackbridge Road, was used as an informal boating lake. A few trees were planted and there are still isolated pine trees 

incongruously growing in the marsh protected by the remnants of iron fences. These are likely to have been planted at the 

same time as the Scots pines alongside Afton Road, which have grown much better.    
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 An increasing population required freshwater supplies. In 1887, parliament gave assent to the newly formed Freshwater 

& Yarmouth Water Company to acquire land and carry out various works in and around Freshwater & Yarmouth to 

provide clean drinking water. The Freshwater & Yarmouth waterworks is shown on the Second Edition map by Afton 

Road at the south end, the source of the Yar. The covered reservoir on Afton Down was constructed at the same time. 

From this point onwards, freshwater reaching the marshes was diminished.   

     The South Marsh (ie. south of Blackbridge Road) was purchased by the Rural District Council in order to control 

(according to minutes of an IWNHAS council meeting) ósurface drainage of the surrounding area and the prevention of 

mosquitoes.ô The North Marsh (ie. north of Blackbridge Road) remained in private hands. In the nineteenth century, it 

formed part of the Afton Park estate. About 1870, the marshes were kept as water meadows, and used to fatten a herd of 

steers (Jeffrey 1962). The construction of Afton Road through Afton Park separated the marshes from the rest of the 

estate and they were neglected and became overgrown.  

     On 9th December 1950, Ernest H. White, Isle of Wight Natural History & Archaeological Society President and 

botanist, gave a talk to the society. It was described as a ófull and interesting account of the changes that have taken place 

in the flora of the Isle of Wight during the last 50 yearsô. This must have been a fascinating talk to listen to. In it he 

referred to the afforestation of the central downs, the conversion of permanent pastures to arable and the severe 

deepening and widening of the streams and drains in both the Eastern and Western Yar Marshes. 

The early 1920s were a time of great interest in British mosquitoes because of problems which had arisen immediately 

after the First World War, when malaria was transmitted in Britain by native mosquitoes. This followed the return of 

soldiers with the disease from the Mediterranean to centres in southern England. Government reports were written and 

many papers were published in scientific journals. The South Eastern Union of Scientific Societies formed a Mosquito 

Investigation Committee which published a series of circulars on Anopheles mosquitoes. A British Mosquito Control 

Institute was set up on Hayling Island in 1925 where there was a considerable mosquito problem at the time. At that time 

those living in the central residential district were not able to sit or work in their gardens in the late afternoon and 

evening, and spectators at outdoor events had to cover themselves in blankets to protect against mosquito bites. The 

Institute was established by John Marshall, an amateur entomologist who became the worldôs leading authority on 

mosquitoes and how to control them. He led a personal crusade to inform governments, local authorities and the public 

about the importance of control measures to reduce the risk of disease from mosquitoes.   

     The British Mosquito Control Institute paid a visit to Freshwater Marshes on 8th September 1933 (Blair 1951b). 

Larvae of Anopheles maculipennis, a known carrier of malaria, were found in the grounds of Freshwater Manor. It is 

likely that John Marshall made recommendations to the Isle of Wight Rural District Council for them to control 

mosquitoes in the marsh by draining the land and burning off the vegetation. The Institute subsequently surveyed the 

marshes for mosquitoes in 1949, a year before the Rural District Council acquired a large part of the South Marsh and 

carried out the work. Kenneth Blair, a professional entomologist, retired from the Natural History Museum to Pentwyn, a 

house on Afton Road overlooking the marsh. He wrote, óWhen I took this house in 1945 I rather feared that the 

mosquitoes might prove an intolerable nuisance. It is true that they are a nuisance, as they are almost everywhere, but not 

to a marked degree.ô (Blair 1951b).      

     From 1950, the Council proceeded on a programme to try and drain the marshes by lowering the water level and 

burning off the reeds and other marsh vegetation at a cost of nearly £1000. The River Board engineer had been 

approached for advice as to how to drain the marsh. His advice was to widen the confluence of the transverse ditch and 

the main stream, plus some widening at the point of intersection at the upper end of this ditch. He also recommended that 

a further transverse ditch on the west side of the main stream near the upper end of the main marsh be re-opened to assist 

the drainage in plots 592 and 513 (anon, 1950). The dredged material heaped up on the banks was spread on the 

surrounding marsh. Following this work, at a meeting of the Rural District Council held on 19st June 1951, the committee 

recommended that no further expenditure be incurred at the marsh for the time being other than that necessary to have the 

reeds burnt from time to time and to keep the ditches clear.     
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The conservation of the marshes 

Botanists had been decrying the loss of species from Freshwater Marshes for some time. However, it was not until 

Kenneth Blair retired to the Island and the Rural District Council began their assault on the marshes that voices began to 

be raised publically.  

 

     Kenneth Blair, in his capacity as fellow of the Royal Entomological Society, wrote to the Rural District Council 

requesting that a portion of the marsh be left untouched to conserve Blairôs Wainscot moth. He wrote (1950b):  

All nature lovers will deplore the drainage operations now being carried on in the Marsh, which are bound to 

prove destructive to the highly interesting flora and fauna that have been developing there, but I am glad to 

be able to report that the Rural District Council have agreed to stay their hand with regard to one small corner 

that it is hoped will act as a reserve for these marsh insects, though it is yet too early to estimate the effect of 

general lowering of the water level already carried out upon the vegetation of this reprieved area and, 

consequently, upon the insect life dependent upon it. 

     In 1951, Freshwater Marshes was notified as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) under the 1949 National Parks 

and Access to the Countryside Act. The marshes were described as the best example of a base-enriched fen on the Isle of 

Wight, comprising extensive areas of tall fen vegetation dominated by Common Reed interspersed with blocks of sallow 

species. At that time, the notification of an SSSI was little more than recognition of the nature conservation value of a 

site. It conferred no powers to allow the Nature Conservancy Council to protect a site.  

 
Figure 4. Pentwyn, Afton Road, home of Dr Kenneth Blair, overlooking the marshes. 

 

     In fact, the vegetation benefited from burning, which slowed down the transition from reedbeds to willow scrub and 

burnt off the accumulating thatch, although not from the herbicide treatment which the Rural District Council used in an 

effort to stop the regrowth of reeds. Invertebrates responded patchily. Those over-wintering deep in the vegetation close 

to the water level were largely unaffected whilst those over-wintering higher in the vegetation suffered declines.   

     Deep channel dredging continued to be used to manage water levels, as indeed was the case on rivers across the 

Island, but nature conservation interests were also quietly being pursued. The Natural History Society established a 

voluntary Conservation Officer post in 1960, ably taken up by Mr S. T. Waite. In 1962, proposals were announced in the 

Isle of Wight County Press which would affect the North Marsh between Blackbridge Road and Afton Road. The private 
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land had been acquired by a local developer who had infilled a part of the marshes adjoining Afton Road (subsequently to 

become an industrial estate) and there were suggestions that more of the marshland could be burnt, drained and 

developed. This generated much local concern, including a petition signed by 92 local residents and demands that the 

District Council should purchase the land to prevent development. The IWNHAS were amongst the organisations 

opposing development. In 1963, the Society produced notes and suggestions for the use and development of the marshes 

for nature conservation which were approved by the Nature Conservancy. The report comprises notes on the sites of 

certain rarities and suggestions for management of five areas of the marshes. Dorothy Frazer, recording species for the 

report, found that aquatic plants were still surviving in side ditches which had not been subject to the deep dredging of 

the main channel.  

     In 1970, which had been designated European Conservation Year, Lorna Snow was the Conservation Officer for the 

Society.  In her annual report, she refers to concerns over water levels on Freshwater Marshes following dredging of the 

river by the River Board at the request of the Rural District Council. Representatives of the Society had several 

discussions and meetings with both the River Board and the District Council óbut so far our suggestions have not been 

very enthusiastically received.ô Bill Shepard carried out a comprehensive survey of the marsh. The Nature Conservancy 

Council re-assessed the condition of the SSSI and concluded that deepening of the channel had caused some lowering of 

the water table, and promoted the invasion of willow scrub, nettles, rosebay willowherb and other adventitious tall herbs. 

Lorna Snow concluded that óIt is an anachronism that the Ministry of Works has much greater power over even the 

smallest archaeological site, than the Nature Conservancy has over SSSIs.ô   

     However, the Rural District Council was starting to listen to the concerns of the conservation lobby. For instance, in 

1971 they agreed to the placement of sluice boards and depth markers in the river at Blackbridge to assess and control 

water levels. However, ódue to local difficulties, it was the end of summer before improvements in the water levels were 

noticeable. In October the level was 5 inches above the very low level in January. Monthly checks were being made and 

if necessary during the winter, the board could be removed.ô   

     In 1974, the Rural District Council was merged with Sandown/Shanklin and Ventnor urban districts, to form South 

Wight Borough Council. In due course, the Borough Council set up a Management Advisory Committee for Freshwater 

Marshes and the Society was allowed representation. Dorothy Frazer, who had taken over from David Low as 

Conservation Officer, served as the Societyôs representative. The functions of the committee were described as: 

 

i) To prepare reports for submission to the Council on actions which they deem wise to preserve the 

marshes in their natural state and to advise the Council on how best this can be done. 

ii)  To increase the opportunities for the public to enjoy the marshes and learn more of their natural 

history. 

iii)  To encourage voluntary help to carry out policies approved by the Council. 

 

     Dorothy Frazer wrote, óAfter many years of uncertainty as to the fate of the marshes, it is most gratifying to find the 

Local Authority initiating and involving our Society in this positive act of conservationô.  The notes and suggestions 

prepared for the Nature Conservancy in 1964 were updated and made available to the Committee, and a map with notes 

on management of different areas was prepared by Jim Waite, the conservation officer for the Hampshire & Isle of Wight 

Naturalists Trust.  Three sand-bag dams were constructed by the hard work of an enthusiastic group of young people 

under the direction of Pat Ewbank and Stuart Traves. Two of these were subsequently converted to solid structures. The 

nature trail walk around the nature reserve was also well received.  

     By 1978, after many years of deliberation, the Borough Council had finally brought the North Marsh into public 

ownership and the following year a new length of footpath linking the Riverside Walk with Blackbridge Road via a rustic 

bridge was constructed. Dredging of the main river continued in the North Marsh although it had ceased in the South 

Marsh. The Society was asked to produce an extended nature trail leaflet (IWNHAS, 1982) encompassing the whole area. 

It now became possible to walk from the Garden Centre by Acorn Spring Works down to the bay. However, water level 

control continued to be a matter of concern and some repair work was carried out to the dams and a pump installed in an 

effort to arrest drying out of the Marsh. In 1983, South Wight Borough Council designated the whole area (15ha) as a 

Local Nature Reserve. 
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Figure 5. The bridge, constructed in 1979, to link the North and South Marshes by footpath. 

 

 
Figure 6. Reed and willow clearance in the South Marsh by Countryside Section of Isle of Wight Council, April 2009. 

The property in the background is óPentwynô, the house occupied by Kenneth Blair. 

 


